IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

NONA TOBIN, AS TRUSTEE OF THE GORDON B. HANSEN TRUST, DATED 8/22/08,

Appellant,

VS.

1

2

3

4

5

6

8

10

11

12

13

14

JOEL A. STOKES AND SANDRA F. STOKES, AS TRUSTEE OF THE JIMIJACK IRREVOCABLE TRUST; YUEN K. LEE, AN INDIVIDUAL, D/B/A MANAGER F. BONDURANT, LLC; SUN CITY ANTHEM COMMUNITY ASSOCIATION, INC.; AND NATIONSTAR MORTGAGE, LLC,

Supreme Court Case No.: 79295

District Court Case No A-15-720032-C Consolidated with A-16-730078-C

Electronically Filed

Elizabeth A. Brown

Dec 19 2019 04:46 p.m.

Clerk of Supreme Court

Respondents.

An Appeal from The Eighth Judicial District Court The Honorable Joanna Kishner, Presiding

I. Jurisdictional Statement

The order granting Sun City Anthem Community Association's motion for summary judgment was entered on April 18, 2019. It became a final judgment under NRAP 3A(b)(1) upon the entry of the Order on Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law filed on June 24, 2019 (the "June 24 Order and Findings"). Nona Tobin ("Tobin"), as Trustee of the Gordon B. Hansen Trust dated 8/22/08 appeals from the district court's order granting Sun City Anthem Community Association's motion for summary judgment entered on April 18, 2019 (the "April 18 Order and Findings"); the Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration filed on May 31, 2019 and the June 24 Order and Findings quieting title in favor of Joel A. Stokes and Sandra F. Stokes, as Trustees of the JimiJack Irrevocable Trust ("JimiJack"), Notice of Entry of which was also filed on June 24, 2019.

II. Routing Statement

This matter is presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals pursuant to NRAP 17(b)(15).

III. Statement of Issues Presented for Review

- 1. Whether the district court erred by granting summary judgment in favor Sun City Anthem Community Association ("SCA") against Tobin, as Trustee of the Gordon B. Hansen Trust dated 8/22/08 on her claims for relief for quiet title and equitable relief in seeking to void SCA's foreclosure sale.
 - 2. Whether the district court erred by finding that SCA properly

followed the process and procedures in foreclosing upon the Property.

- 3. Whether the district court erred by failing to quiet title in favor of Tobin, as Trustee of the Gordon B. Hansen Trust dated 8/22/08.
- 4. Whether the district court erred by quieting title in favor of Joel A. Stokes and Sandra F. Stokes, as Trustees of the JimiJack Irrevocable Trust ("JimiJack").
- 5. Whether the district court erred by entering judgment in favor of Joel A. Stokes and Sandra F. Stokes, as Trustees of the JimiJack Irrevocable Trust and Yuen Lee and F. Bondurant, LLC as to all claims for relief asserted by Tobin, as Trustee of the Gordon B. Hansen Trust dated 08/22/08.

IV. Statement of the Case

This is an action for Quiet Title and Wrongful Foreclosure, among other claims, resulting from the purchase and sale of real property at a homeowner's association foreclosure sale. Cross-Defendant, Sun City Anthem Community Association ("SCA") filed Cross-Defendant Sun City Anthem Community Associations' Motion for Summary Judgment on February 5, 2019, which was joined by Nationstar Mortgage, LLC, but not JimiJack. Following a hearing on March 5, 2019, the district court granted SCA's motion for summary judgment. Notice of Entry of Findings of Fact, Conclusion of Law and Order on Cross-Defendant Sun City Anthem Community Association's Motion for Summary Judgment was filed on April 18, 2019. Tobin, as Trustee of the Gordon B. Hansen Trust dated 8/22/08, filed Cross-Claimant Nona Tobin's Motion for

Reconsideration on April 29, 2019. The motion for reconsideration was denied following a hearing on May 29, 2019. Notice of Entry of the Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration was filed on May 31, 2019.

Tobin's remaining Counterclaim against Plaintiffs, Joel A. Stokes and Sandra F. Stokes, as Trustees of the JimiJack Irrevocable Trust, Yuen K. Lee and F. Bondurant, LLC proceeded to trial commencing June 5, 2019. The Order on Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law quieting title in favor of Joel A. Stokes and Sandra F. Stokes, as Trustees of the JimiJack Irrevocable Trust was filed on June 24, 2019. Notice of Entry of the Order on Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law was also filed on June 24, 2019.

V. Statement of Facts

- 1. Tobin has lived in Sun City Anthem at 2664 Olivia Heights Avenue since February 20, 2004 and has been an owner in good standing the entire time.¹
- 2. On or about July 31, 2003, Gordon B. Hansen, together with his then wife Marilyn, purchased the property located at 2763 White Sage Drive, Henderson, Nevada 89052, APN 191-13-811-052 (the "Property").²
- 3. Gordon and Marilyn divorced, and on or about June 10, 2004, Marilyn Hansen quit claimed the Property to Gordon Hansen as a part of the divorce settlement.³

AA Vol. VI 001122 Declaration of Nona Tobin ("Tobin Decl.") at [1]

² AA Vol. VI 001122, 001133 – 001137 Deed, Ex. 1 to Tobin Decl.

³ AA Vol. VI 001122, 001138 – 001142 Quitclaim Deed, Ex, 2 to Tobin Decl.

- 4. On or August 22, 2008, the Gordon B. Hansen Trust (the "Trust") was formed pursuant to NRS chapter 163, and Nona Tobin was identified as a successor trustee in the event of Gordon Hansen's death.⁴
- 5. On August 27, 2008, title to the Property was transferred to the Gordon B. Hansen Trust.⁵
- 6. Gordon B. Hansen died on January 14, 2012, and Tobin became a trustee of the Trust.⁶
- 7. Pursuant to the amendment to the Trust dated August 10, 2011, there were two equal co-beneficiaries of the Trust's assets, Tobin, the deceased's fiancé, and his son, Steve Hansen.
- 8. In July 2016, on behalf of the beneficiaries of the Trust, Tobin attempted to intervene into *Nationstar Mortgage vs. Opportunity Homes, LLC*, A-16-730078 which was consolidated into A-15-720032-C in mid-August, 2016 but was denied for procedural defects.⁷
- 9. On March 27, 2017, Steve Hansen executed a declaration made under penalty of perjury disclaiming all interest in the Property and the Gordon B. Hansen Trust leaving Tobin as the sole beneficiary of the Trust.⁸
- 10. Tobin paid the HOA dues and late fees for three quarters after Gordon Hansen's death that covered the period from January 1, 2012 through

⁴ AA Vol. VI 001122, 001143 – 001173 Trust, Ex, 3 to Tobin Decl.

⁵ AA Vol. VI 001122, 001174 – 001178 Deed, Ex. 4 to Tobin Decl.

⁶ AA Vol VI 001111, 001179 – 001180 Certificate of Death, Ex. 5 Tobin Decl.

⁷ AA Vol. VI 001122, 001181 – 001194 Exhibit 6 to Tobin Decl.

⁸ AA Vol. VI 001122 Tobin Decl., P 9

3

4

5

6 7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

from the Sparkmans and authorized them to move into the Property pending the close of escrow.¹⁰ 12.

Tobin accepted a purchase offer on the Property on August 8, 2012

- Tobin prepared two (2) checks 142 and 143, each in the amount of \$300 for HOA dues, and both were dated August 17, 2012. However, only check 142 has a date received stamped on the check. 11
- 13. Check 142 paid the assessments for Tobin's own house on August 17, 2012.
- Tobin did not accurately recall the timing and method of 14. submitting the last dues payment (check 143 dated August 17, 2012 in the amount of \$300 - \$275 for assessments for the quarter ending September 30, 2012 plus a \$25 late fee). 12
- It was not until December 26, 2018, when Tobin received copies of documents SCA0001-SCA000643 that she discovered SCA000631 was a letter signed by Tobin to SCA dated October 3, 2012.
- 16. After seeing SCA000631, Tobin's memory was refreshed that check 143 was sent to SCA with other specific notices and instructions.
 - 17. The Death Certificate was enclosed, providing notice that the

⁹ AA Vol. VI Tobin Decl., P 11

¹⁰ AA Vol. VI 001123 Tobin Decl., **№** 12

¹¹ AA Vol. VI 001123, 001195 – 001197 Cancelled checks, Ex. 7 to Tobin Decl. ¹² AA Vol. VI 001123 Tobin Decl., № 13

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

- Notice was also provided that Tobin had accepted an offer for a short sale on the Property and that the new owners were expected to move in within the month.¹⁴
- Tobin requested that SCA collect future assessments out of escrow 19. and to direct questions to Real Estate Broker Doug Proudfit, a well-known and long-time SCA owner in good standing, or from the new owners, or by whatever normal procedures the SCA used when an owner dies.¹⁵
- 20. The subject of the October 3, 2012 letter was "Delinquent HOA" dues for 2763 White Sage" and the enclosed check was identified as "Check for \$300 HOA dues" which covered the \$275 assessment that was late for the quarter ending September 30, 2012 and the \$25 late fee which was authorized for the installment being sent after July 30, 2012.¹⁶
- Nothing in this letter indicates in any way that Tobin refused to 21. pay assessments as alleged by SCA.¹⁷
- 22. Given that the Property was in escrow as of August 8, 2012, Tobin reasonably expected that the assessments due on October 1, 2012 would be paid out of escrow in the same way a pending tax payment is paid out of escrow according to the terms of the escrow instructions.¹⁸

¹³ AA Vol. VI 001123Tobin Decl., **№** 19

¹⁴ AA Vol. VI 001123 Tobin Decl., **№** 20

¹⁵ AA Vol. VI 001123 Tobin Decl., 21

¹⁶ AA Vol. VI 001124 Tobin Decl., **P** 21

AA Vol. VI 001124 Tobin Decl., № 23
 AA Vol. VI 001124 Tobin Decl., № 24

- 23. Exhibit 8 to the Tobin Declaration is the SCA Resident Transaction Report for 2763 White Sage, pages 1334 through 1337, covering the period from January 1, 2006 through that Tobin received from SCA on May 9, 2016.¹⁹
- 24. SCA agents, RMI community manager, and its affiliate, "RRFS" ignored the October 3, 2012 notice that the property had been sold and did not follow, or even acknowledge, the explicit instructions that the \$300 check was for "HOA dues".²⁰
- 25. SCA's records conflict with SCA000176-SCA000643, Red Rock Financial Services ("RRFS") foreclosure file, which was SCA's sole source of alleged facts in support of its motion for summary judgment.²¹
- 26. The Resident Transaction report shows that the \$300 Tobin paid for the quarter ending September 30, 2012 was credited in the SCA's records on November 9, 2012 as "Collection Payment Part(ial)", and it was not properly credited refuting Fact 13 of the April 18 Order and Findings.²²
- 27. Tobin's payment for "HOA dues" was applied on October 18, 2012 in the RRFS ledger (SCA000623-625) to unauthorized and unnecessary collection fees despite the NRS 116A.640(8) explicit prohibition against "Intentionally apply(ing) a payment of an assessment from a unit's owner

¹⁹ AA Vol. VI 001124 Tobin Decl., **№** 25

²⁰ AA Vol. VI 001124 Tobin Decl., **P** 26

²¹ AA Vol. VI 001124 Tobin Decl., **P** 27

²² AA Vol. VI 001125 Tobin Decl., **№** 32

28. Tobin made no attempt to evaluate or reduce the RRFS demands for fees as she had contracted with Proudfit Realty to complete a short sale and expected the bank and the new owner to arrange to pay SCA the full amount due.²⁴

- 29. SCA's claim that Tobin enclosed a notice of sanction dated September 20, 2012 to the October 3, 2012 letter is false.²⁵
- 30. The October 3, 2012 letter plainly states there are two enclosures the check for HOA dues and a death certificate.
- 31. There was no third enclosure listed of a September 20, 2012 notice of hearing as falsely claimed by SCA and refuting Findings of Fact number 9.²⁶
- 32. The September 20, 2012 notice of hearing that RRFS claims was enclosed with the October 3, 2012 letter could not have come from Tobin as she would only have had the original.²⁷
- 33. SCA proceeded with unnecessary collections, adding unauthorized fees despite two payoff demands from Ticor Title on or about December 20, 2012 and January 16, 2013.²⁸
- 34. SCA's managing and collection agents ignored the fact that both the real estate agent Doug Proudfit and Tobin, both long-term SCA

AA Vol. VI 001125 Tobin Decl., P 33
 AA Vol. VI 001125 Tobin Decl., P 34

²⁵ AA Vol. VI 001125 Tobin Decl., **P** 35

²⁶ AA Vol. VI 001125 Tobin Decl., **P** 37

²⁷ AA Vol. VI 001125 Tobin Decl., **§** 38

²⁸ AA Vol. VI 001125 Tobin Decl., 🖡 39

homeowners in good standing, had no interest in SCA not receiving all assessments that were due and were working diligently to sell the property after the market had crashed.²⁹

- Check no. 143 was for payment for the SCA quarterly dues for the 35. Property for the period commencing July 1, 2012 in the principal amount of \$275.00, together with late fees in the amount of \$25.00. Check no. 143 did not clear the bank until October 23, 2012.³⁰
- 36. Check No. 143 in the amount of \$300.00 was incorrectly credited by SCA's debt collector, RRFS to the account for the Property on or about October 18, 2012 as shown by the RRFS ledger sent on November 5, 2012 to the Property (but not the owner's address of record).³¹
- 37. The Resident Transaction Report shows that the \$300 from check no. 143 was credited as "Collection Payment Part(ial)" rather than as \$275 plus \$25 late fee for the July 2012 quarter, which would have brought the account current with a zero balance instead of the \$495.15 RRFS claimed was still owing in the ledger.³²
- NRS 116A.640(8) prohibits an HOA agent from applying 38. assessment payments to "any fine, fee or other charge that is due". 33
 - 39. The legal framework established by SCA, as delineated in SCA

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

²⁹ AA Vol. VI 001125 – 001126 Tobin Decl., **№** 40

³⁰ AA Vol. VI 001126Tobin Decl., **№** 41

³¹ AA Vol. VI 001126 Ledger, Ex. 8 to Tobin Decl., **P** 42

Board Resolution, dated November 17, 2011 "Establishing The Governing Documents Enforcement Policy and Process" requires that prior to sanctioning an owner for an alleged violation of the governing documents, such as delinquent assessments, the Board must provide a specific notice of violation, a notice of violation hearing, notice of sanction (hearing determination), notice of appeal, and an appeal determination letter.³⁴

40. Specifically, the Third Amended and Restated Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions for Sun City Anthem expressly provides in part that:

7.4 Compliance and Enforcement

- (a) Every Owner and Occupant of a Lot shall comply with the Governing Documents. The Board may impose sanctions for violation of the Governing Documents after notice and a hearing in accordance with the procedures set forth in the By-Law. The Board shall establish a range of penalties for such violations, with violations of the Declaration, unsafe conduct, harassment, or intentionally malicious conduct treated more severely than other violations. Such sanctions may include, without limitation:
- (i) imposing a graduated range of reasonable monetary fines which shall, pursuant to the Act, constitute a lien upon the violator's lot... The amount of each such fine must be commensurate with the severity of the violation and shall in no event exceed the maximum permitted by the Act. The Rules may be enforced by the assessment of a fine only if: (A) Not less than thirty (30) days before the violation, the person against whom the monetary penalty will be imposed has been provided with written notice of the applicable provisions of the Governing Documents that form the basis of the violation; (B) Within a reasonable time after discovery of the violation, the person against whom the

³⁴ AA Vol. VI 001126 Tobin Decl., **P** 45

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

22

monetary fine will be imposed has been provided with written notice specifying the details of the violation, the amount of the monetary penalty, and the date, time and location for a hearing on the violation and a reasonable opportunity to contest the violation at the hearing; (C) The Board must schedule the date, time, and location for the hearing on the violation so that the person against whom the monetary fine will be imposed is provided with a reasonable opportunity to prepare for the hearing to be present at the hearing; and (D) The Board must hold a hearing before it may impose a monetary fine, ...

(emphasis added).35

- SCA did not provide Tobin any of the required notices, nor did it 41. hold a hearing prior to the imposition of fines misnamed as collection costs.³⁶
- SCA imposed progressively more serious and disproportionate 42. sanctions for the alleged violation of delinquent assessments, up to and including foreclosure, without providing any meaningful and compliant due process.37
- 43. SCA claims to have sent a September 17, 2012 notice of intent to lien, that Tobin does not have any record or recollection of having received and for which there is no proof of service for this notice in the 54 pages of proofs in SCA000176-SCA000643.38
 - 44. Even if sent, that notice was defective and non-compliant:
 - There was no preceding notice of violation, a.

²⁰ ³⁵ AA Vol. VI 001126 - 001127 Third Amended and Restated Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions for Sun City Anthem ("CC&Rs"), 21 Exhibit 10 at pp. 35-36 to Tobin Declaration, ₱ 46

³⁶ AA Vol. VI 001127 Tobin Decl., № 47 37 AA Vol. VI 001127 Tobin Decl., № 48 38 AA Vol. VI 001127 Tobin Decl., № 49

- RRFS's claiming \$617.94 on September 17, 2012 is b. excessive and unauthorized when \$275 only came due on July 1, 2012.
- Only \$25 late fee was authorized on July 31, 2012 when the c. payment is 30 days late.
- \$317.94 claimed by RRFS for collection costs for the next d. 35 days the payment was late was not authorized.
- An excessive, non-negotiable fee of \$317.94, which SCA e. collection agent claimed must be disputed within 30 days of a notice that Tobin did not receive, is not a "collection cost", it is an impermissible fine and a sanction.³⁹
- On or about December 14, 2012, SCA caused a Notice of 45. Delinquent Assessments (the "Lien") to be recorded against the Property which claimed the amount of \$925.76 was delinquent and owed as of December 5, 2012 when at that time, only \$275.00 was due and owing for the period commencing October 1, 2012. The Lien included erroneous charges and did not credit assessments paid when the amount was below the minimum past due amount when collection can begin.⁴⁰
- As of December 14, 2012, the maximum amount of the 46. delinquency for the Property's HOA account was \$300.00, consisting of thencurrent quarterly dues in the amount of \$275.00, together with late fees in the

³⁹ AA Vol. VI 001127 – 001128 Tobin Decl., **P** 50 ⁴⁰ AA Vol. VI 001128 Tobin Decl., **P** 51

8

9

10

11

12

13 14

15

16 17

18

19

20

21

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