IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

NONA TOBIN, AS TRUSTEE OF
THE GORDON B. HANSEN TRUST,
DATED 8/22/08,

No. 79295

Electronically Filed
Jul 01 2020 12:32 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellant,

vs.

JOEL A. STOKES; SANDRA F.
STOKES, AS TRUSTEE OF THE
JIMIACK IRREVOCABLE TRUST;
YUEN K. LEE, AN INDIVIDUAL,
D/B/A MANAGER; F. BONDURANT,
LLC; SUN CITY ANTHEM
COMMUNITY ASSOCIATION, INC.;
AND NATIONSTAR MORTGAGE,
LLC,

Respondents.

**RESPONDENTS, SUN CITY ANTHEM COMMUNITY ASSOCIATION,
JOEL A. STOKES AND SANDRA F. STOKES, AS TRUSTEES OF THE
JIMIACK IRREVOCABLE TRUST, YUEN K. LEE, AN INDIVIDUAL
D/B/A MANAGER, AND F. BONDURANT, LLC'S,
ANSWERING BRIEF**

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

The Trust admits the same on appeal stating: “Tobin did not accurately recall the timing and method of submitting the last dues payment” After seeing [the Tobin Letter], Tobin’s memory was refreshed . . . Opening Brief p. 5 ¶¶ 14-16.¹¹⁴

¹¹⁰ Opening Brief at p. 25-26: 17-21 and 1.

¹¹¹ AA Vol. V AA000898.

¹¹² AA Vol. IV 000689-000690 (Tobin Letter) and AA Vol. IV 000679-000682 (Ledger).

¹¹³ *Id.*

¹¹⁴ Compare with AA Vol. V 000898 ¶¶ 8-10, and with AA Vol. IV 000689-000690 (Tobin Letter).

6) Subsequently there was also Tobin's trial testimony to consider:

Specifically, Ms. Tobin as Trustee for the Hansen Trust conceded on direct examination that the house had been subject to multiple short sale potential escrows as the house was in default with the lender. She also conceded that there was a late payment to the HOA. Thus, at least \$25.00 owed to the HOA at some point. While she disagreed whether the HOA could assess the charges that she asserted were added to the Hansen Trust account as a result of the Hansen Trust's failure to pay its dues on time, she provided no evidence that the charges were inaccurate or impermissible.¹¹⁵

Based on the substantial evidence the District Court correctly concluded that no payments were misapplied and the delinquency that began in July 2012 was never paid down to zero; despite a payment being made and the delinquency being paid down some. This was accurately reflected in Red Rock's Ledgers and Notices going forward until the foreclosure sale.¹¹⁶

C. The District Court reviewed the specific Trust allegation regarding the Notice of Sale and correctly found SCA foreclosed on a valid lien and the Notice of Sale was not cancelled.

The Trust argues that a screen shot from the Ombudsman's office appeared to indicate that the Notice of Sale was cancelled.¹¹⁷ No legal argument was made below or here on appeal that the way to cancel a Notice of Sale is to have this language appear on the Ombudsman's screen. The Trust did not argue or provide

¹¹⁵ AA Vol. XIII 002577-2578.

¹¹⁶ See AA Vol. IV 000679-000682 (Ledger), AA Vol. IV 000710 (Second Notice of Default), AA Vol. IV 000712-000713 (Notice of Foreclosure Sale).

¹¹⁷ Opening Brief p 15 ¶58.

any evidence that a recession of the Second Notice of Default or Notice of Sale appeared in the county record. The delinquency was valid and continuing, and the Trust had communicated in October of 2012 they would no longer pay assessments.¹¹⁸

In SCA's Opposition to the Trust's Motion for Reconsideration SCA argued and the Court considered the following:

As argued by the HOA previously, the sale was postponed, however, a postponement is not a cancellation, and does not require the recording of a new notice of sale. Nothing in the recorded documents rescinds the Notice of Sale. Tobin offered a screenshot from the Ombudsman's office to argue the Notice of Sale was cancelled. This argument was addressed at the hearing. See Sun City Anthem's argument in Video of hearing at 23:30 and Court's decision in Video of hearing at 24:20 and 28:45.

Tobin now attempts to authenticate the evidence; however, reconsideration is only proper if the newly discovered evidence is "substantially different" from the prior evidence and "not previously obtainable in the exercise of due diligence." *Masonry and Tile Contractors v. Jolly Urga & Wirth*, 113 Nev. 737, 741 (1997)(emphasis added). See also, *Mustafa v. Clark County School District*, 157 F.3d 1169, 1178-79 (9th Cir., 1998) (generally, leave for reconsideration is only granted upon a showing of: (1) newly discovered evidence; (2) the court having committed clear error or manifest injustice; or (3) an intervening change in controlling law); *Harvey's Wagon Wheel Inc. v. MacSween*, 96 Nev. 215, 217-218, 606 P.3d 1095, 1097 (1980).

¹¹⁸ AA Vol. IV 000679-000682 (Ledger), and AA Vol. IV 000689-000690 (Tobin Letter).

Additionally, the Court provided and the Order indicates:

the HOA has met its burden in establishing that there is no genuine issue of material fact and that it is entitled to summary judgment. Tobin has failed to meet her burden in opposing the Motion because the screenshot was not authenticated as necessary pursuant to NRCP 56. Additionally, even if authenticated, the screenshot does not create a genuine issue of material fact because it does not establish that the sale was cancelled prior to the time of the foreclosure sale, the basis for the remarks, and whether the statements as indicated are the Ombudsman's opinions or the truth. The totality of the facts evidence that the HOA properly followed the processes and procedures in foreclosing upon the Property.

Tobin is not presenting new facts or law on this point.¹¹⁹

The evidence presented during summary judgment and discussed above establishes a valid lien was foreclosed on. Reconsideration was correctly denied under *Masonry and Tile Contractors v. Jolly Urga & Wirth*, 113 Nev. 737, (1997), *Mustafa v. Clark County School District*, 157 F.3d 1169, (9th Cir., 1998), and *Harvey's Wagon Wheel Inc. v. MacSween*, 96 Nev. 215, 217-218, 606 P.3d 1095 (1980). The subsequent trial testimony discussed establishes it was a valid lien, and the Trust does not explain why or how the Notice of Sale would have been cancelled. The substantial evidence establishes SCA properly followed the processes and procedures in foreclosing upon the Property.

¹¹⁹ Opposition to Reconsideration AA Vol VIII 001362-1363, citing: Order on Motion for Summary Judgment (AA Vol. XIII 001045-001058).

The Trust proceeded to a Bench Trial on June 5th and 6th, 2019 for its claims against Yuen K. Lee dba Manager, F. Bondurant, LLC. and the Jimijack Irrevocable Trust. Yeun K. Lee dba Manager, F. Bondurant, LLC. and the Jimijack Irrevocable Trust did not have any claims against the Trust wherein Jimijack Irrevocable Trust's claim for Quiet Title/Declaratory Relief against Nationstar Mortgage, LLC and its predecessor, Bank of America, N.A., were resolved pursuant to a settlement with Nationstar Mortgage LLC. Thus, the only claims for the Bench Trial were the Trust's claims against Yuen K. Lee dba Manager and F. Bondurant, LLC. for fraudulent conveyance, quiet title and equitable relief, and civil conspiracy, and against Jimijack for fraudulent re-conveyance, unjust enrichment, civil conspiracy, and preliminary and permanent injunction. At the time of trial, the Trust only presented the testimony of Nona Tobin. No other witnesses were presented. No documents of any kind were admitted into as evidence. The district court, therefore, correctly found that the Trust failed to meet its burden of proof. AA Vol. XIV 002559. The district court entered its Findings of Facts, Conclusions of Law and Judgment in favor of Yuen K. Lee dba Manager, F. Bondurant, LLC. and Jimijack Irrevocable Trust and against the Trust on all of the Trust's claims. AA Vol. XII 002551-2564.

D. Alternatively, equity weighs in favor of upholding the sale.

The substantial evidence establishes the July payment by the Trust was in fact late and not misapplied by the collection company Red Rock. Yet, additionally, the Trust's claim is based on a false premise, that an accounting error would entitle the Trust to equitable relief, even though the Trust did not attempt to pay the total delinquency.

Even assuming in the alternative that a payment was timely made and misapplied, equity would still weigh in favor of Respondents given the totality of the situation. The Trust would not have been prejudiced by an error if one had occurred, as under the facts here the Trust never attempted to pay the delinquency even though it was outstanding for about two years, and the sale was postponed multiple times.¹²⁰ First, the Trust never addressed the timing of the payment with Red Rock. It is undisputed that years of assessments went unpaid after that check. If the Trust had raised the issue at the time, Red Rock could have re-noticed the delinquency and restarted the process. Second, the Trust allowed caretakers followed by potential purchasers to live at the property without requiring they pay the HOA assessments.¹²¹

¹²⁰ AA Vol. IV 000759-000787 (Payoff Demands and communications with Craig Leidy).

¹²¹ AA Vol. II 000299 at ¶¶ 18-19.

For the following reasons even if the Court assumes in the Trust's favor that the payment was timely made, Equity weighs in favor of the Respondents given the other facts surrounding the sale.

1. Review Under *Shadow Wood* Provides the Trust is Not Entitled to an Equitable Determination to undue the sale.

“When sitting in equity, [], courts must consider the entirety of the circumstances that bear upon the equities.” *Shadow Wood HOA v. N.Y. Cmty. Bancorp.*, 132 Nev. Adv. Op. 5, 366 P.3d 1105, 1114 (2016), referencing: see e.g., *In re Petition of Nelson*, 495 N.W.2d 200, 203 (Minn.1993). Here, there is no factual universe where the Tobin Letter does not exist, and as argued above the Trust does not challenge the letters accuracy or claim it to be a mistake by Tobin. The record is clear that the Trust never took action to argue a payment was misapplied prior to the sale. The Trust's own actions must be considered by the Court.

Against these inconsistencies, however, must be weighed NYCB's (in)actions. The NOS was recorded on January 27, 2012, and the sale did not occur until February 22, 2012. NYCB knew the sale had been scheduled and that it disputed the lien amount, yet it did not attend the sale, request arbitration to determine the amount owed, or seek to enjoin the sale pending judicial determination of the amount owed. The NOS included a warning as required by NRS 116.311635(3)(b):

**WARNING! A SALE OF YOUR PROPERTY IS IMMINENT!
UNLESS YOU PAY THE AMOUNT SPECIFIED IN THIS NOTICE
BEFORE THE SALE DATE, YOU COULD LOSE YOUR HOME,
EVEN IF THE AMOUNT IS IN DISPUTE. YOU MUST ACT
BEFORE THE SALE DATE.**

Shadow Wood HOA v. N.Y. Cmty. Bancorp., 132 Nev. Adv. Op. 5, 366 P.3d 1105, 1114 (2016). Similar to NYCB in *Shadow Wood*, the Trust is arguing it disputed the lien amount. Yet, similar to NYCB, the Trust did not do any of things the *Shadow Wood* Court references such as attend the sale, request arbitration on the amount, or seek to enjoin the sale. Without taking those actions and the more obvious actions of just communicating it to Red Rock, the court should not believe the Trust was prejudiced by an accounting error that was a small part in a total amount the Trust was not going to pay anyway.

The interaction between Craig Leidy and Red Rock is telling. Tobin contracted with Craig Leidy to help her short sale the Property.¹²² Craig Leidy requested the HOA waive thousands of dollars off the debt.¹²³ If Tobin the trustee actually believed that payments were misapplied and it led to additional charges that discussion would have come up during the waiver of debt. The HOA did communicate that it would waive some amounts but could not grant the waiver to the extent requested.¹²⁴ Factually, all late fees and interest amounts were going to be waived if Trust could accomplish the short sale of the Property.¹²⁵ Communication between Nationstar and Craig Leidy appears to indicate the balance

¹²² AA Vol. IV 000759-000787 (Payoff Demands and communications with Craig Leidy)

¹²³ *Id.*

¹²⁴ *Id.*, at AA Vol. IV 000785

¹²⁵ *Id.*

was too high for Nationstar to allow the short sale.¹²⁶ However, it was not any late fees or interest that prevented the short sale.¹²⁷

Additionally, at the time the Tobin Letter was received by Red Rock in October of 2012, the Trust had just allowed potential purchaser's to move into the home without paying assessments.¹²⁸ The Trust apparently washed its hands of the property assuming the short sale would happen, never raised the issue of belief that its last payment was not timely credited. The Trust also never came up with a plan about what to do about the outstanding assessments if these potential purchasers did not pay them.

“[I]t is well established that due process is not offended by requiring a person with actual, timely knowledge of an event ... to exercise due diligence and take necessary steps to preserve [his] rights.” *GAC Enters. v. Medaglia (In re Medaglia)*, 52 F.3d 451; see also *SFR Investments Pool 1 v. U.S. Bank*, 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 75, 334 P.3d 408, 418 (2014). Here, if the Trust knew of an error, it failed to diligently act to correct the error. There is nothing in Trust's claim or actions that would lead to setting aside the sale in equity.

¹²⁶ *Id.*, at AA Vol. IV 000782, and 000783.

¹²⁷ *Id.*

¹²⁸ AA Vol. II 000299 at ¶¶ 18-19.

2. The Trust Is Estopped from Seeking Equitable Relief.

“Equitable estoppel functions to prevent the assertion of legal rights that in equity and good conscience should not be available due to a party's conduct.” *In re Harrison Living Tr.*, 121 Nev. 217, 223, 112 P.3d 1058, 1061–62 (2005).

This court has previously established the four elements of equitable estoppel: (1) the party to be estopped must be apprised of the true facts; (2) he must intend that his conduct shall be acted upon, or must so act that the party asserting estoppel has the right to believe it was so intended; (3) the party asserting the estoppel must be ignorant of the true state of facts; (4) he must have relied to his detriment on the conduct of the party to be estopped.

Id. Here, with the Tobin Letter the Court should find that the Trust is now Estopped from arguing the payment was timely and misapplied. Taking the factors out of order, to the second factor, Tobin must have intended the Letter be acted upon, as it makes specific requests.¹²⁹ To the third factor, the HOA and Red Rock, clearly believed the payment was untimely, as indicated by their Ledgers.¹³⁰ They could have filed a new delinquency if they believed there was an accounting error, and it does not make any sense for them to proceed with the accounting error if it only led to additional late fees that the HOA was willing to waive anyway.¹³¹ To the fourth factor, Red Rock’s file contained the Tobin Letter.¹³² The Red Rock file also

¹²⁹ AA Vol. IV 000689-000690 (Tobin Letter).

¹³⁰ AA Vol. IV 000679-000682 (Ledger).

¹³¹ AA Vol. IV 000785.

¹³² AA Vol. IV 000689-000690 (Tobin Letter).

included a Progress Report that establishes on October 8, 2012 they received the “correspondence via mail.”¹³³ The Progress Report indicates Red Rock processed the payment on October 18, 2012.¹³⁴ Red Rock relied on the letter to process the payment included with it, and nothing in the letter dated October 3, 2012 made Red Rock believe the payment should not be applied in October.¹³⁵ To the first factor, if the Trust never knew of an accounting error before the sale, it was never harmed because it never intended or attempted to pay the delinquency. The only way the Trust could have been harmed is if it was aware of the error, and attempted to correct it during the sale and was unable to. The facts do not demonstrate this, and it is more likely the payment was untimely. However, considering the factors, if the Trust became aware that the payment was not timely applied and the Tobin letter was not accurate, it did nothing to correct the issue prior to the sale. Estoppel functions to prevent the Trust from benefiting from a correctable mistake now after the sale.

¹³³ AA Vol. IV 000825 (Red Rock Homeowner Progress Report).

¹³⁴ *Id.*

¹³⁵ AA Vol. IV 000689-000690 (Tobin Letter).

3. The Trust’s Claim in Equity is Barred by the Doctrine of Unclean Hands.

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